University of Vermont ScholarWorks @ UVM

Transportation Research Center Research Reports

1-31-2012

Seasonality, Mobility, and Livability

Jane Kolodinsky University of Vermont, Jane.Kolodinsky@uvm.edu

Erin Roche University of Vermont

Thomas DeSisto University of Vermont

William Sawyer Univeristy of Vermont

David Propen University of Vermont

See next page for additional authors

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/trc

Recommended Citation

Kolodinsky, Jane; Roche, Erin; DeSisto, Thomas; Sawyer, William; Propen, David; Conte, Faye; and Putman, Matthew, "Seasonality, Mobility, and Livability" (2012). *Transportation Research Center Research Reports*. 215.

https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/trc/215

This Report is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks @ UVM. It has been accepted for inclusion in Transportation Research Center Research Reports by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ UVM. For more information, please contact donna.omalley@uvm.edu.

Authors

Jane Kolodinsky, Erin Roche, Thomas DeSisto, William Sawyer, David Propen, Faye Conte, and Matthew Putman



A Report from the University of Vermont Transportation Research Center

Seasonality, Mobility, and Livability UVM Transportation Research Center

TRC Report #12-002| Kolodinsky, Roche, DeSisto, Sawyer, Propen, Conte and Putnam | January 2012

Seasonality, Mobility, and Livability UVM Transportation Research Center

January 31, 2012

Prepared by: Jane Kolodinsky Erin Roche Thomas DeSisto William Sawyer David Propen Faye Conte Matthew Putnam

Center for Rural Studies 207 Morrill Hall 146 University Place University of Vermont Burlington, VT 05405

Phone: (802) 656-3021

Website: http://www.uvm.edu/crs/

Acknowledgements

The Project Team would like to acknowledge the efforts and support of Brian Lee and Lisa Aultman-Hall who provided guidance on transportation issues. We also acknowledge the unfailing commitment of our work study funded assistants. Funding for this research was provided by the University of Vermont Transportation Research Center through a grant from the US Department of Transportation.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view or policies of the UVM Transportation Research Center. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements and Disclaimeri List of Tables and Figuresiii
1. Introduction
2. Research Methodology
2.1 Qualitative Research for Survey Design
2.2 Quantitative Methodology
2.2.1 Sample and Profile of Respondents
2.2.2 Procedure
2.2.3 Indirect Obesity Determination
2.3 Analytical Methodology
2.3.1 Uni- and bi-variate Analysis
2.3.2 Thematic Analysis of Open Ended Questions
2.3.3 Multi-variate Analysis
2.3.4 Novel Approach to BMI Classification: Auto Classification of Self-Reported Height
and Weight
2.3.5 Geospatial Data Analysis
2.3.6 Self-Reported Rurality Methodology Analysis11
3 Results 12
3.1 Results of Primary Objective
3.2 Other Results
4. Implementation/Tech Transfer
5. Conclusions
References, etc
Appendices

List of Tables – numbered by Chapter first and then numerically

Table 2-1. Demographic comparison of rural and non-rural residents
Table 2-2. Overweight and Obesity Survey Comparison
Table 2-3. Overweight and Obesity Survey Comparison by State
Table 3-1. Binary Logistic Model to predict Probability of Unmet Travel Demand page 29
Table 3-2. Truncated Probit Model to predict # of Trips Made main page 32
Table 3-3. Linear Model: QOL Regression page 35
Table 3-4. Incidence of Unserved Travel Demand, by Season
Table 3-5. Random Effects QOL Model, estimated using regression techniques page 38
Table 3-6. Rural and Non-rural Comparison of QOL and Ratings of Amenity Availability and Importance page 40
Table 3-7. QOL Regression: Perception of Availability controlling for importance page 42
Table 3-8. Results from the first multivariate logistic regression of meal pattern clusters page 18
Table 3-9. Results from the second stage of the multivariate logistic regression page 19

List of Figures – numbered by Chapter first and then numerically

Figure 1-1. Mobility and Livability: Seasonal and Built Environment Impacts Model	page 2
Figure 3-1. Structural Equation Model of Significant Variables Impact on QOL	page 13
Figure 3-2. 100% Stacked Bar Graph – Unserved Issues Across Panel	page 16

1. Introduction

Signature project 4a, "Seasonality, Mobility, and Livability" investigated the effects of weather, season, built environment, community amenities, attitudes, and demographics on mobility and quality of life (QOL). A four season panel survey examined these variables through an in depth survey and a 24-hour travel log. After the first phase (season) the potential to co-investigate health effects within the context of mobility and qol was realized. Therefore, in the second phase of the study a health module was added that allowed for investigation of food choice, exercise, and weight status.

This report is organized by first introducing the principal research question then following with secondary and tertiary research questions. The report follows this structure through the introduction, methodology, results, and conclusion. Chapter 4, dissemination, will discuss how the work has and will be distributed. When commonality exists in introducing broad concepts and methodology it will be discussed at the beginning of the respective chapter. Specific details of that research area will be discussed within the sub-chapters.

Unserved travel demand has been shown to decrease quality of life. Faced with a combination of severe weather, dramatic seasons, low population density and aging infrastructure, northern rural communities are particularly challenging environments in which to provide transportation options and ensure that people can get to where they want and need to go. The climate and seasonality of rural northern communities makes the provision of public transit, whether local, regional, or inter-regional, particularly challenging and often cost-prohibitive. Important amenities and services, i.e. grocery stores, employment, and places you can walk to, are also considered less available and less accessible in rural areas (Dillman 1977; Hart 2002; Goldsberry 2009), given lower population sizes and densities (Hart 2005; Hubsmith 2007). Rural populations, in general, also have more poor and elderly residents (Hart, Larson et al. 2005). Using a 2009 database of residents of Vermont, Maine, and New Hampshire, this study examines the issues which cause unserved travel demand and how these issues impact the QOL of residents of northern New England.

The first stage of the study was a qualitative investigation using focus group discussions. The purpose of the focus groups was to explore the opinions, behaviors, and ideas of various identified segments of the population to inform the four-season panel survey development.

The literature shows that concepts from rural transportation research, travel behavior, mode choice, as well as the concepts of social and health capital, impact community planning, maintenance of vibrant rural communities, and the obesity crisis

Overall, there is a need for more research that connects travel behavior to the built environment and season in northern communities. This project team is particularly motivated by the important role of transportation on the social and health capital aspects of livability in our communities. The existing work is most often focused on urban and suburban areas and the impact of climate and season is rarely considered. This research will contribute both methodology and data to strive to fill these gaps while focusing on northern communities in the United States.

Research Objectives

- 1. Describe the impact of season on the level of both revealed and unserved travel demand using activity-based analysis for rural northern communities. Describe the variation of this seasonal impact on travel demand based on measures of rural character and the built environment and
- 2. Evaluate unserved travel demand as a measure of livability and quality of life in rural northern climates.

Mobility and Livability: Seasonal and Built Environment Impacts



Seasonality, Infrastructure, Travel Demand and Quality of Life

Figure 1-1. Mobility and Livability: Seasonal and Built Environment Impacts Model

2. Research Methodology

2.1 Qualitative Research for Survey Design

Qualitative studies were used in Phase I to develop and refine survey measurement instruments during the first three months, January, 2008 - March, 2008. The project teams worked with NETI and other partners to coordinate survey development efforts during this period.

Qualitative studies are often used to help formulate hypotheses and identify appropriate question formulations. The richness of the data obtained through structured discussion with groups or individuals is valuable in designing more focused structured measurement instruments and in pursuing deeper interpretation of results obtained from surveys; however, the effort required to obtain, process, analyze, and interpret qualitative data generally limits this type of research to small samples. The character of these data also rules out formal testing for differences.

Topics discussed in the focus groups included: isolation, seasonality, health implications, livability, choices in the use of transportation infrastructure, how activities are organized, planned, and executed, and whether or not travel patterns would differ if the transportation infrastructure were to change. Verbatim transcripts were produced from these focus groups.

A draft survey instrument was developed with information and concepts gathered from the literature review, developmental focus groups, and consultation with NETI. Survey development was accomplished in multiple phases of drafting and consultation among the research group members. Once a satisfactory initial draft of the survey instrument was developed, the survey instrument was pre-tested on 35 respondents, both experts in the field of transportation and individuals who will be part of the target population for the survey research. These pre-test respondents reviewed the survey instrument and provided feedback on content, clarity, wording and format.

2.2 Quantitative Methodology

This survey was informed by findings from focus groups conducted in the Fall of 2008 and guided by the Transportation Research Center and Center for Rural Studies at the University of Vermont. This survey was approved by the University of Vermont's Institutional Review Board (IRB). In order to engage the variety of specified populations, the team used purposeful, non-probability sampling methods. This research was funded by the U.S. Department of Transportation (USDOT).

2.2.1 Sample and Profile of Respondents

A total of 1417 respondents responded to the survey. Of this sample, 70.1% lived in a rural area, 45.5% of respondents were male, 47.7% had at least a bachelor's degree, the average age was 53.3 years old, and the average household income was \$76,850.

	Rural	Non-Rural
	N=980	N=437
Age	50.5	51.9
Gender	49% Male	45% Male
Income	58% \$50,000+	59% \$50,000+
Children in household	35% at least one child	31% at least one child
Education	47% BA or greater	52% BA or greater

Table 2-1. Demographic comparison of rural and non-rural residents

2.2.2 Procedure

The initial sample for the survey was taken from a sample frame of 15,000 residents of Vermont, Maine, and New Hampshire provided by the New England Transportation Institute (NETI). The number of surveys completed in the spring was 1,417 (sample) out of 4,625 mail and voice contacts corresponding to a 30.64% response rate. Of those contacted, 2,708 people refused to take the survey or terminated it after only a few questions and 500 people who said they had completed, or would complete, the survey online did not. Respondents had to be over the age of eighteen and willing to participate in all four phases of the survey to be interviewed.

The survey was completed using computer-aided telephone interviewing (CATI) and online polling. Letters were mailed out on Friday, May 22, 2009 to potential respondents. These letters contained a short description of the survey, and alerted potential respondents to the availability and web address of the online survey (Dillman, Smythe et al. 2009). All computer-aided telephone interviews and online surveys were conducted between Tuesday, May 26, 2009 and Wednesday, June 10, 2009, Monday through Friday from 4:00 p.m. until 9 p.m.

Over the summer, fall, and winter, respondents totaled 1006, 802, and 732 respectively. The final panel, who responded during all four seasons, totaled 654 respondents. Throughout our four surveys, the weather patterns that the region experienced were normal.

2.2.3 Indirect Obesity Determination

Obesity is defined here as a body mass index (BMI), i.e. weight in kilograms divided by height in meters that is greater than thirty. During the development of the survey, weights that corresponded to an individual that was overweight and obese were assigned to each height ranging from 4'10" to 6'4". BMIs for all other heights were individually calculated after the survey was administered.

In order to indirectly determine whether a respondent was obese or not, respondents were first asked approximately, how tall are you (in feet and inches). Answers to this question were recorded and based on this response. Our computer aided telephone interview asked the respondent a series of up to two questions regarding their weight. The first weight-based question asked whether the respondent weighed less than a specific weight which corresponded to the pounds at which an individual of the respondent's height would be classified as overweight. If the respondent answered yes (1), that they were less than this weight, they were coded as not overweight. If the respondent answered no (2), that they were not less than this weight, they were asked a second weight-based question which corresponded to the pounds at which an individual of the respondent's height would be classified as obese. Subsequently, the sum of these weight-based questions were totaled for each respondent and coded such that a value of 1, i.e. an answer of yes to the first weightbased question, classified the respondent as not overweight. A value of 3, i.e. the respondent weighed more than the first weight question (an answer of 2-no) but less than the second (an answer of 1-yes), classified the respondent as overweight. A value of 4, i.e. the respondent answered no, that they weigh more than both weights offered (an answer of 2-no for both questions), classified the respondent as obese.

2.3 Analytical Methodology

All analyses were conducted with the Statistical Program for Social Sciences (SPSS), version 18.0 and LIMDEP Econometrics Software.

Respondents rated the importance of eighteen community amenities on a scale from zero (0) to ten (10), with zero being not at all important and ten being very important and 5 being a point in the middle. To measure the natural and built environment, respondents rated the perceived availability of eighteen community amenities on a scale from zero (0) to ten (10), with zero being not at all offered and ten being very well offered and 5 being a point in the middle. A five point Likert Scale ranging from Strongly Agree to Strongly Disagree was used to measure the attitudes of the respondents on various transportation-related issues.

Respondents were asked to identify themselves as rural, suburban, or urban. Self-reported and perceived rurality has been shown to map well to other measures of rurality (Doty, et al., 2006; Howat, Veitch, & Cairns, 2006; Jacob & Luloff, 1995). Compared to classifications from the U.S. Census Bureau (US Census, 2002), 84.0 percent of the respondents in this study correctly self-classified as rural. Rural areas include towns with less than 2,500 residents, towns with low population and/or density and communities that are neither metropolitan nor dependent on a metropolitan area (Dillman & Tremblay, 1977; Hart, Larson, & Lishner, 2005; Hubsmith, 2007; Williams, et al., 1975).

The number of trips a respondent made in a given day was measured through a travel log collected within the survey. Within this travel log, respondents answered such questions as, "where did you start your day," "what time did you first leave," and "what was the purpose of your trip." Once the respondent had answered all the questions regarding a given trip they were asked "Then, did you go home or somewhere else?" If they answered yes (1) then the interviewer would continue to gather data regarding these subsequent trips until the respondent stated that they had ended their day at that location (2). The respondents who took 0 trips were coded as a 0. All respondents who made more than 1 trip were measured by totaling one plus the number of times a respondent went somewhere else, coded as (1), after leaving their starting point for the day yesterday. A single leg was added to account for the respondent's initial trip away from their starting point.

Age was measured as a continuous variable. Binary codes were used for other demographic variables (1=female, high income, children in household, at least college education).

2.3.1 Uni- and bi-variate analysis

A frequency analysis was conducted for both overall unserved travel demand and for each of the reasons cited as causing unserved travel demand. To fully utilize the panel nature of this data set, a random effects model was estimated using regression techniques. In this model there were four periods for each of the 654 respondents (nLogit 4.0 2007) used to estimate QOL.

In order to determine the issues behind respondents' unserved travel demand, respondents were asked about any necessary trips last week that they were unable to make. If the respondent replied affirmatively, then we followed-up with 'why couldn't you go?'

A frequency analyses was conducted, for each of the four seasons, to determine the types of transportation issues respondents had encountered. Chi-square tests and independent sample t-tests were then conducted to assess the relationship between the demographics and

the issues causing unserved travel demand. Demographics coded nominally included: gender (male=1), education (at least a bachelor's degree=1), rurality (rural=1), bicycles (at least one per household=1), motor vehicles (at least one per household=1), access to public transportation (yes=1), driver's license (yes=1), and employment (employed=1). Household composition was divided into four variables: single adults no kids (SANK), single adults with kids (SAWK), multiple adults no kids (MANK), and multiple adults with kids (MAWK). Of these four SANK, SAWK, and MAWK were included in the regression analyses. Age and years in New England were coded continuously. The dependent variable, QOL was coded on a scale from zero (0) to ten (10), with zero (0) being completely dissatisfied and ten (10) being completely satisfied and 5 being the point in the middle.

Lastly, independent sample t-tests were conducted to determine whether there were significant differences in QOL amongst the respondents facing specific issues causing unserved travel demand and everyone else.

2.3.2 Thematic analysis of open ended questions

Reasons for why a respondent was unable to get where they needed to go were thematically coded according to eight categories, transportation, weather, time, health, affordability, accessibility, social issues, and other. The transportation category included not having access to a car or a driver's license; the weather category included snow, rain, coldness, darkness, and seasonality; the time category included work and time constraints, unemployment, conflicting plans, and commitments to family and friends; the health category included the flu, family illness, injuries, disabilities, handicaps and other health related issues; the affordability category included gas prices and money considerations; the accessibility category included distance considerations, destinations being too far away, and lack of amenities in the area; the social category included isolation, and peer attitudes; the other category included all other reasons and those who did not provide a reason. If respondents provided more than one reason for their inability to get where they needed to go, then the reasons were coded under more than one category, i.e. work and time, or transportation and health. For each of the eight categories, responses were coded into a binary variable with one (1) representing that the respondent was unable to get to their destination due to this issue and zero (0) representing everyone else.

2.3.3 Multi-variate analysis

Within LIMDEP, a series of three models were estimated using structural equation modeling (SEM) techniques. The model can be seen in its totality in Figure 3-1.

Responses were recoded into a binary variable with one (1) representing strongly agree or agree and zero (0) representing everyone else. Similarly, other categorical variables were recoded into binary variables including typical weather (worse than typical=1) and weather affected travel decision (yes=1). Categorical demographics were also recoded as binary variables: gender (male=1), education (at least a bachelor's degree=1), rurality (rural=1), bicycles (at least one per household=1), motor vehicles (at least one per household=1), access to public transportation (yes=1), driver's license (yes=1), and employment (employed=1). We divided household composition into four variables: single adults no kids (SANK), single adults with kids (SAWK), multiple adults no kids (MANK), and multiple adults with kids (MAWK). Of these four we included SANK, SAWK, and MAWK in the regression analyses to compare to the MANK reference group.

Additional exogenous variables included in the regression analyses to satisfy rank and order conditions included four nominal variables, whether a respondent lived in Maine (1) or

Vermont/New Hampshire (0), whether a respondent lived in New Hampshire (1) or Maine/Vermont (0), whether a respondent considered today a typical day (1) or not (0), and a single continuous variable, how many years a respondent had lived in northern New England.

Other variables that served as intermediary dependent variables included the nominal variables of whether a respondent had any form of unmet demand, i.e. places they wanted or needed to go but didn't (yes=1), whether a respondent had taken at least one trip (yes=1) as determined by the survey travel log, and the continuous variables, the total number of trips taken by a respondent, and the respondent's self-reported QOL.

The first model was a binary logistic model with unserved travel demand as the dependent variable. This model was estimated to predict the probability that a respondent had any form of unserved demand, with unserved demand defined as a respondent having anywhere they wanted or needed to go but didn't in the last week (yes=1). Independent variables in the model included the perceived availability of eighteen community amenities, nine attitudinal statements regarding travel, thirteen demographics, and two measures of the weather.

The second model was a two-step, truncated regression model with total number of trips as the dependent variable. This model was suggested by preliminary analysis which indicated that the probability of a respondent making at least 1 trip and the total number of trips a respondent made in a day both depend on the same independent variables used in the previous binary logistic model but in opposite directions (LIMDEP Version 8.0, 2007). The initial step, a probit model, served as the indicator of whether the probability of making at least 1 trip was positive or not. The second step was a truncated regression model that indicated the nonlimit observations, or predicted total number of trips made and truncated at greater than zero; here, we included as the dependent variable of total number of trips logged. Independent variables in the first step of the truncated probit were the same as in the previous binary logistic model. Independent variables in the second step of the truncated regression model included two exogenous variables to identify the model: whether the respondent was a resident of Maine or New Hampshire.

The final model used linear OLS regression techniques with QOL as the dependent variable. QOL was coded on a scale from zero (0) to ten (10), with zero (0) being completely dissatisfied and ten (10) being completely satisfied and 5 being the point in the middle. Included in this regression were the previously included independent variables: community amenities, attitudinal statements regarding travel, demographics, and measures of the weather. To ensure the system of equations was indentified and satisfied rank and order conditions, the final linear regression analysis of QOL included two exogenous variables that were excluded from the previous equations. The number of previously excluded independent variables (2) was also as large as the number of right hand side endogenous (dependent) variables in the same equation (Wooldridge 2003). Additional exogenous variables of Maine residence, New Hampshire residence, whether today was a typical day, and the number of years the respondent had lived in northern New England were included in the final model. Lastly, the predicted number of trips a respondent made and predicted probability that a respondent had any form of unserved demand were independent variables in this model.

To test for multicollinearity, an analysis of the variance inflation factors (VIF), was conducted. No collinearity was detected within our model's data; all of the initial variables were included in the final model.

2.3.4 Novel Approach to BMI Classification: Auto Classification of Self-Reported Height and Weight

The percentages of respondents who were not overweight, overweight, and obese as classified by our "less than weight" self-reported height measures can be seen in Table 1. Using our auto-classification method, 24.8% of respondents were coded as obese; these findings correspond well to the BMI trends exhibited in Chou, Grossman, & Saffer's (2002) review of the four National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHES I through NHANES III) from 1959 to 1994 in which the percentage of obese respondents has been steadily increasing from 12.73% in the first survey to 21.62% in NHANES III. These results also correspond well with the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey, a national health survey administered by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). All of our classifications are within 1.1 percentage points of the classifications gathered in the BRFSS survey.

TIYL (2009)	BRFSS (2009)		
Classification	Percentage	Classification	Percentage	
Not Overweight	37.10%	Not Overweight	37.02%	
Overweight	38.10%	Overweight	37.11%	
Obese	24.80%	Obese	25.87%	

Table 2-2. C	Overweight and	Obesity Su	rvey Comparison
--------------	----------------	-------------------	-----------------

Note. TIYL N=1349, BRFSS N=19945

(National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention & Health Promotion: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System 2009)

On a state-wide level, our findings are also supported by the BRFSS survey. Below, we present our percentages for obese and overweight & obese respondent classifications compared with the 2009 BRFSS telephone survey data for Vermont, Maine, and New Hampshire. Our obesity classifications are within the range of the BRFSS's 95% confidence interval (CI) for Maine and Vermont. Our overweight classifications, however, are within the range of the BRFSS's 95% CI for only Maine.

Table 2-3. Overweight and Obesity Survey Comparison by State	. Overweight and Obesity Survey Comp	arison by State
--	--------------------------------------	-----------------

		Auto-O	Classification (2009)		BRFSS	5 (2009)
	Ν	Obese	Overweight	Ν	Obese	Overweight
Maine	350	26.9	37.1	7776	26.4 (25.1-27.7)	37.8 (36.3-39.3)
New Hampshire	281	28.5	38.8	5725	26.3 (24.6-28.0)	36.5 (34.6-38.4)
Vermont	718	22.3	38.3	6444	23.4 (22.0-24.8)	34.8 (33.4-36.3)

Note. 95% Confidence Interval for BRFSS Obese and Overweight columns.

(National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention & Health Promotion : Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System 2009)

2.3.5 Geospatial data analysis

In the first phase of the TIYL panel, all 1417 respondents were asked to identify themselves as rural, suburban or urban. Only respondents in the final four season panel were included in the geospatial data analysis.

Rural houses may sit farther back from the road than urban houses and therefore geocoded addresses for urban and rural respondents would differ. The geocoded point is located on the road in front of the house. In urban and suburban developments the house sits close to the road but rural areas the house may be setback. In vehicular focused studies the difference between geocoded point and the house is negligible, but a study incorporating biking and pedestrian activities could be heavily influenced if long setbacks from the road were ignored.

Using the physical addresses of the panel respondents and satellite imagery the distance from the geocoded address to the nearest building edge was measured to determine if distance from the street to the house was different between the two groups. Rural houses averaged 163 feet (n=139) from the geocoded point to the nearest building edge while urban houses averaged 57 feet (n=100). Urban standard deviation was 32.8 feet while rural standard deviation was 171 feet. Maximum distance in the sample for rural houses was 1461 feet while urban houses maximum distance was 189 feet. Minimum distances were similar 8 feet for urban and 9 feet for rural.

Addresses were geocoded using ArcMAP 10 with the US streets geocode service locator. A 98% match rate was achieved. 2009 TIGER/Line® Shapefiles available from the U.S. Census Bureau demarking urban areas were used to determine a household's rurality. The Shapefiles often use midline of streets as a boundary which would include houses on one side of the street and exclude homes on the opposite side. A 0.05 mile buffer was applied to the selection to include addresses that fell on the sides of streets not included in the Shapefiles boundaries.

Urban areas include all urban areas and urban clusters. This may be broadly defined as any area with 50,000 or more inhabitants with a minimum density of 1,000 people per square mile, places with between 2,500 and 50,000 inhabitants and a minimum density of 500 people per square mile and less densely settled enclaves that connect such areas (U.S. Census Bureau, 2009).

Distance was measured in ArcMAP 10 using the measure feature. Distance was determined at a map scale of 1:1000, from the geocoded point to the closest available building. For consistency there was no attempt to follow roads, driveways, or paths. 100 addresses were randomly selected from the urban respondents and because of the high variability of rural respondents a somewhat larger sample of 139 was selected from the rural group. Imagery resolution was noticeably higher on average for the urban group than the rural selection.

Satellite imagery was sourced from the built in Imagery provided by ESRI in the ArcMAP software.

3. Results

The primary objective of Signature Project 4a was to measure the effects of seasonality and mobility (unmet travel demand and number of trips) on Quality of Life (QOL).

3.1 Results of Primary Objective

The structural equation model to measure the effects of seasonality and mobility on QOL was developed using preliminary models to determine the probability of a respondent having unmet travel demand and to predict the number of trips a respondent will make. These two new variables are then included in the final OLS model. Table A-1 (see Appendix) presents the results of the binary logistic model to measure the effects of community amenities, attitudes, demographics, and seasonal weather upon whether or not a respondent had unserved travel demand.

Variables that significantly decreased the probability that a respondent had unserved travel demand included the perceived availability of grocery stores, a feeling of safety, and the availability of at least one motor vehicle. The strongest effect of these variables was the availability of at least one motor vehicle which resulted in a 25.3% decrease in the probability of having unserved travel demand. A perceived availability for grocery stores, and a feeling of safety equal to 10 resulted in an 11% and 19% decrease in the probability of having unserved travel demand, respectively, as shown in the marginal effects column of Table A-1. Variables that significantly increased the probability that a respondent had any form of unserved travel demand included being male (4.3% increase), worse than typical weather (5.9% increase), if weather affected your travel (11.4% increase), and knowing people who had unserved travel demand (6.4% increase).

The second model is shown in Table A-2. This truncated regression model predicts the number of trips a respondent made in a given day. The perceived availability of grocery stores (0.85 more trips per 10 unit increase in availability) and places you can walk to (0.39 more trips per 10 unit increase in availability) both increased the number of trips a respondent made in a given day, as did having at least a bachelor's degree (0.27 more trips), living in a multiple adult household with children (0.51 more trips as compared to households with multiple adults and no children), and feeling safe making a trip after dark (0.36 more trips). Respondents who agreed that they traveled less when gas prices were high made 0.24 more trips than their counterparts (it should be noted that at the time of data collection, gas prices were lower than in the recent past). The perceived availability of restaurants (0.49 fewer trips per 10 unit increase in availability) decreased the number of trips a respondent made in a given day.

The final model is a linear OLS regression with the dependent variable QOL shown in Table A-3 (see Appendix). The model had an Adjusted R Square value of .37. The presence of any form of unserved travel demand, had the greatest impact on QOL with a 1 unit decrease (-.954) out of 11 possible units. Neither the number of trips made nor any of the weather variables had any significant effect on QOL (controlling for unserved travel demand).

QOL was significantly increased by the perceived availability of adequate housing (0.61 units per 10 unit increase in availability), access to neighbors you consider friends (1.09 units per

10 unit increase in availability), and a feeling of safety (1.52 units per 10 unit increase in availability), as well as enjoying your daily travel (0.275 unit increase), having a typical day (0.214 unit increase), and living more years in northern New England (0.002 unit increase). The perceived availability of affordable housing significantly decreased QOL by 0.5 units per 10 unit increase.

Figure 3-1 below presents structural equation model (SEM) of the entire analysis. The perceived availability of safety was the only variable which affected both unserved travel demand (negatively) and QOL (positively). Figure 3-1 provides a graphic representation of the variables of the SEM that were significant predictors of their respective dependent variable, as well as the Beta coefficient value (impact) of each of the significant variables. It also displays the significant variables coded for the relevant segment of the hypothesized model depicted in Figure 1-1.



FIGURE 3-1. Structural Equation Model of Significant Variables Impact on QOL.

3.2 Other Results

Other areas of investigation in the project were to better understand the reasons for unmet travel demand and, specifically, the effect of weather and seasonality on unmet travel demand. The research team also investigated the effect of community amenities on QOL, and the effect of the community type (rural vs. urban) on QOL, as well as considering the interaction effect of the importance of community amenities and the amenities' availability in the community. Selected results from these investigations are presented below.

Table3-4 presents the results, across seasons, of respondents who had *places they needed to go but couldn't in the past week*. Unserved travel demand (not being able to get places you need to go) was rare in all four seasons, including winter. Winter demonstrated the greatest percentage of respondents who had unserved travel demand, followed by spring. Over all seasons, transportation issues were the most common reason for unserved travel demand. The issue that most affected respondents, in a single season, was weather in winter.

	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter
	N=648	N=647	N=646	N=650
Unserved travel demand	5.1%	3.6%	3.4%	6.8%
Reasons for unmet demand				
Transportation	2.0%	0.8%	0.5%	2.6%
Time	1.5%	1.2%	1.5%	0.5%
Accessibility	1.1%	0.9%	0.9%	1.0%
Weather	0%	0.2%	0%	3.2%
Health	0.8%	0.9%	0.6%	0.8%
Affordability	0.3%	0.2%	0%	0.3%
Social	0.2%	0.3%	0%	0.3%
Other	0.2%	0%	0%	0%

Table 3-4. Incidence of unserved travel demand (places you needed to go last week but couldn't), by season

Figure 3-2 presents a 100% stacked bar graph illustrating the role of each issue in causing unserved travel demand in each season. As shown in Figure 3-2, weather was challenging to mobility only in winter, while accessibility and health challenges were equally likely to occur in all seasons.



Figure 3-2. 100% Stacked Bar Graph – Unserved Issues Across Panel

Table A-5 (See Appendix) presents the results of a random effects model estimated using regression techniques. The random effects model allows for time-varying variables such as the causes of unserved demand over the four seasons of the panel. Controlling for both time-varying (season) and invariant demographic characteristics, this model shows that causes of unserved travel demand have a significant impact on QOL. Affordability issues, which include price of gas and other financial considerations, had the largest impact, reducing QOL by nearly 2 full units. Access, weather and health issues also had a negative impact on QOL. Both age and the winter season were shown to have a small, but significant, positive impact on QOL.

These results suggest that, in northern rural climates, winter weather appears to be an exacerbating factor. While winter weather-related unserved travel demand was not specifically correlated with these vulnerable populations, the winter weather appears to have made getting where residents of these populations needed to go, that much more difficult, to the point where already existing vulnerabilities, i.e. rurality, low-income, and unemployment, that were not evident in the other seasons, now became a factor in contributing to transportation-related unserved travel demand.

Table A-6 (See Appendix) shows the mean and standard deviation for each of the community amenities tested, as well as QOL, for rural and non-rural residents. While the level that many of these community amenities are offered at differs between rural and non-rural residents, the overall QOL does not differ significantly; nor are there differences in the demographic characteristics of the residents. T-test for equality of means revealed the significant differences between both the importance and availability of rural versus non-rural community amenities, as well as the non-significant difference in QOL.

These t-test results show that despite having a comparable QOL, rural and non-rural residents value the importance of amenities differently. One hypothesis is that amenity availability and importance affects QOL differently for rural and urban residents. An Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression was used to estimate whether rurality is simply shifted the intercept for QOL or if it changed the slope and the intercept. To test this hypothesis, an f-test of restrictions was performed on the linear model to test the null hypothesis that they are a single population and the results (F = 4.10^{***}) rejected the null hypothesis. That is, to understand the relationship between community amenities and QOL, rural residents need to be treated as a separate population and not just a variable to control for in the regression model.

To estimate the effect of amenities on QOL, OLS regression was used. Table A-7 (See Appendix) shows the results of an OLS model that controls for perceived amenity importance as well as demographic variables. When importance is controlled for in the model, fewer amenities affect QOL and the impact of those amenities that are significant is smaller when importance is controlled for. The two amenities (affordable housing and education & training) with a negative relationship between availability and QOL are not significant when importance is controlled for. The availability of grocery stores (.045), adequate housing (.059), employment opportunities (.088), safety (.112), natural surroundings (.133) and places you can walk to (.074) predict QOL for rural residents of Northern New England. As in the first model, being older (.008) and male (-.238) increases QOL, though the effect of age on QOL is less when controlling for importance. Residents who believe that natural surroundings are important increases QOL by .145 units. In addition, availability of natural surroundings and a feeling of safety have impact QOL by .133 and .112, respectively.

Results of a multivariate model which uses the panel survey data to predict meal patterns and obesity are provided in Tables 3-8 and 3-9, respectively. This recent analysis attempts to determine the relationship between transportation variables, such as access to public transportation, number of vehicles in the household and unmet travel demand to predict meal patterns. The predicted meal pattern cluster values are then included in the second stage model which predicts likelihood of healthy weight or overweight compared to obese.

	Eat at home and away cluster		vay	Mostly eat away from home cluster		
Independent Variable	B†	Marginal Effects Averaged Over Individuals	P-value	B†	Marginal Effects Averaged Over Individuals	P-value
Constant	1.21	.1685	.281	1.737	.1202	.332
Under 5	061	.0375	.858	-1.151	1117	.058*
Youth	259	0237	.308	656	0540	.088*
Teen	.148	.0346	.581	11	0174	.769
# employed in HH	.067	.0047	.528	.205	.0174	.158
Years in NNE	.001	.0002	.368	.002	.0001	.535
Age	016	0021	.06*	026	0018	.041**
VT	151	0318	.441	.032	.0097	.91
Income < 15,000	-1.04	1255	.058*	-1.941	1477	.083*
Income 15,000 - 34,999	859	1050	.022**	-1.575	1192	.009***
Income 35,000 - 74,999	354	0416	.236	689	0531	.085*
Income 75,000 - 149,999	.119	.0344	.683	241	0290	.535
Race	.166	.0795	.793	-1.065	1129	.118
Gender	123	0253	.514	.015	.0068	.955
Drivers license	783	1031	.16	-1.261	0913	.109
Taxi	-1.158	1912	.125	970	0462	.405
Public transportation access	.51	.0912	.015**	.265	.0042	.375
Public transportation use	.292	.0631	.571	098	0224	.908
Bike use	.701	.1431	.08*	047	0349	.946
# of vehicles	.042	.0097	.655	032	0049	.807
Unmet travel demand	384	0197	.316	-1.331	1156	.093*
Availability of grocery stores	.015	.0024	.647	.013	.0007	.771
Access to grocery stores	025	0661	.959	1.415	.1415	.218
Nearest food source	062	0103	.343	048	0021	.609
Choose a healthy diet	629	0758	.001***	-1.174	0894	.000***

Table 3-8. Results from the first multivariate logistic regression of meal pattern clusters

Note. N=664. X^2 =111.72, p=.000***. †Logistic regression coefficient. *P<.1, **P < .05, *** P < .01. All results are reported comparing to *Mostly Eat at Home* cluster.

	Not Overweight cluster			Overweight cluster		
Independent Variable	B†	Marginal Effects Averaged Over Individuals	P-value	B†	Marginal Effects Averaged Over Individuals	P-value
Constant	-3.638	6271	.005***	738	.3165	.466
Eat at home & away cluster	049	0279	.85	.129	.0358	.6
Eat away cluster	123	0298	.739	.04	.0255	.904
Under 5	.638	.0976	.142	.222	0345	.6
Youth	.506	.0409	.13	.451	.0350	.159
Teen	.624	.0422	.076*	.617	.0570	.064*
# employed in HH	.083	.0298	.474	099	0336	.409
Years in NNE	016	0025	.004***	005	.0009	.209
Age	.01	.0008	.342	.009	.0006	.383
VT	.472	.0588	.042**	.265	0026	.222
Income < 15,000	588	.0447	.361	-1.217	1979	.043**
Income 15,000 - 34,999	949	0767	.034**	846	0657	.046**
Income 35,000 - 74,999	353	0496	.361	157	.0115	.671
Income 75,000 - 149,999	403	0423	.295	286	0112	.439
Race	1.251	.3105	.161	459	2706	.44
Gender	008	.0477	.973	37	0829	.085*
Availability of grocery stores	.072	.0048	.055*	.071	.0066	.043**
Access to grocery stores	.35	.0714	.527	012	0493	.98
Nearest food source	.075	0012	.321	.122	.0176	.086*
Choose a healthy diet	1.463	.1741	.000***	.884	.0059	.000***
Enjoy physical activity	.468	.0610	.083*	.243	0071	.312
Exercise	1.07	.1069	.000***	.8	.0391	.000***

Table 3-9. Results from the second stage of the multivariate logistic regression

Note. N=664. *X*² =159.4, p=.000***. †Logistic regression coefficient. *P<.1, **P < .05, *** P < .01.

All results are reported comparing to *Obese* respondents.

4. Implementation/Tech Transfer

The results of this Signature Project 4a have been used to inform several proposals for future research.

- Perceptions filter contextual effects on mobility and energy balance
- Estimating contextual and mediating effects of the environment on energy balance
- Estimating the effect of mobility and food choice on obesity
- Rural Elderly Access to Healthcare

The results of the primary objective were presented at the Transportation Research Board 2012 Annual Meeting.

Interim Results have been presented as posters at TRB Conferences in 2009 and 2010.

Two M.S. Theses were based on analysis of the data gathered in this project.

- Association of the built food environment and consumer food choice on meal patterns and implications on obesity in rural northern new england: a two-stage multivariate logistic regression analysis Faye Conte, 2012
- Amenity Deserts in Northern Climates: Meeting Needs Amongst Rural Communities - David Propen, 2010

5. Conclusions

- Based on qualitative and quantitative results, seasonality and weather do not constitute barriers to mobility or impede QOL independently, but rather exacerbate other barriers such as lack of personal vehicle.
- Rural residents have different systems of values than non-rural residents of Northern New England. The relationship between their natural and built environment and their QOL is different.
- Having access to a motor vehicle has the strongest effect on probability of unserved travel demand. Availability of grocery stores and feeling of safety in community both significantly decreased likelihood of unserved travel demand.
- Availability of grocery stores and places to walk to in the community increase the number of trips made.
 - Note that more grocery store availability increases the number of trips, but decreases the probability of unserved travel demand.
- Unserved travel demand has a strong impact on QOL, showing a one unit decrease, out of all possible units, in QOL when there is unserved demand. Feeling safe in one's community resulted in the biggest increase in QOL.
- Unserved travel demand is rare in all seasons, though more likely in winter. Reasons for unserved travel demand included transportation issues, time, accessibility, weather, health, and affordability.
 - Across all seasons, unserved travel demand due to affordability had the biggest negative impact, reducing QOL by nearly two units (out of a possible 11).
- Better availability of grocery stores decreases probability of being in obese cluster, compared to overweight or healthy clusters.

References, etc.

- Alexander, A. C., & Vias, C. (2004). Bigger stores, more stores, or no stores: Paths of retail restructuring in rural America. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 20(3), 303-318.
- Alvarez-Torices, J. "Self-reported height and weight and prevalence of obesity. Study in a Spanish population." <u>International Journal of Obesity</u> **17**(11): 663-667.
- Arcury, T., J. Preisser, et al. (2005). "Access to transportation and health care utilization in a rural region." <u>The Journal of Rural Health</u> **21**(1): 31-38.
- Atkinson, A. M. (1994). Rural and Urban Families' Use of Child Care. *Family Relations*, 43(1), 16-22.
- Auh, S., & Cook, C. (2009). Quality of community life among rural residents: An integrated model. Social Indicators Research, 94, 377-389.

Bashir, S. (2002). Home is where the harm is: Inadequate housing as a public health crisis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92(5), 733-738.

- Barresi, C. M., K. F. Ferraro, et al. (1983). "Environmental satisfaction, sociability, and wellbeing among urban elderly." <u>The International Journal of Aging and Human</u> <u>Development</u> 18(4): 277-293.
- Beggs, J. J., Haines, V. A., & Hurlbert, J. S. (1996). Revisiting the rural-urban contrast: Personal networks in nonmetropolitan and metropolitan settings. *Rural Sociology*, 61(2), 306-325.
- Bergstrom, A. and R. Magnusson (2003). "Potential of transferring car trips to bicycle during winter." <u>Transportation Research Part A: Policy & Practice</u> **37**(8): 649.
- Bitto, E. A., L. W. Morton, et al. (2003). "Grocery Store Acess Patterns In Rural Food Deserts." Journal for the Study of Food and Society **6**(2): 35-48.
- Block, J., Scribner, R., DeSalvo, K., (2004). Fast Food, Race/Ethnicity, and Income: A Geographic Analysis. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, 27(3), 211-217.
- Blunden, R. (1988). "Quality of life in persons with disabilities: Issues in the development of services." <u>Quality of life for handicapped people</u>: 37 55.
- Bolton-Smith, C., M. Woodward, et al. (2000). "Accuracy of the Estimated Prevalence of Obesity from Self Reported Height and Weight in an Adult Scottish Population." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health (1979-) **54**(2): 143-148.
- Bolton-Smith, C. e. a. (2000). "Accuracy of the estimated prevalence of obesity from self reported height and weight in an adult Scottish population." Journal of Epidemiology Community Health **54**: 143-148.

Booth, K., Pinkston, M., and Poston, W.S.C. (2005). Obesity and the Built Environment. *Journal* of American Dietic Association, 105, S110-S117.

- Brehm, J., Eisenhauer, B., & Krannich, R. (2004). Dimensions of community attachment and their relationship to well-being in the amenity-rich rural west. *Rural Sociology*, 69(3), 405-429.
- Bringolf-Isler, B., Grize, L., M\u00e4der, U., Ruch, N., Sennhauser, F., Braun-Fahrl\u00e4nder, C., and SCARPOL team. (2008). Personal and environmental factors associated with active commuting to school in Switzerland. 46, 67-73.
- Brownson, R. e. a. (2000). Promoting Physical Activity in Rural Communities: Walking Trail Access, Use, and Effects. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, 18(3).
- Brownson, R. e. a. (2004). "Measuring the Environment for Friendliness Toward Physical Activity: A Comparison of the Reliability of 3 Questionnaires." <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> **94**(3).
- Brownson, R. e. a. (2009). "Measuring the Built Environment for Physical Activity." <u>American</u> Journal of Preventative Medicine **36**(4S).
- Burkhardt, J. (1999). "Mobility Changes Their Nature, Effects, and Meaning for Elders Who Reduce or Cease Driving." <u>Transportation Research Record</u> **1671**: 11-18.
- Burkhardt, J. (2000). Coordinated Transportation Systems, AARP.

- Burkhardt, J. E., A. T. McGavock, et al. (2002). "Improving public transit options for older persons."
- Carp, F. M. (1988). Transportation in an aging society : Improving mobility and safety for older persons. Washington, D.C., Transportation Research Board, National Research Council. 218: 1-20.
- Casey, A. A., Elliott, M., Glanz, K., Haire-Joshu, D., Lovegreen, S. L., Saelens, B. E., et al. (2008). Impact of the food environment and physical activity environment on behaviors and weight status in rural U.S. communities. *Preventative Medicine*, 47(6), 600-604.
- Cervero, R. and K. Kockelman (1997). "Travel demand and the 3Ds: density, diversity, and design." <u>Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment</u> **2**(3): 199-219.
- Chadwick, B. A., & Bahr, H. M. (1978). Rural poverty. In T. R. Ford (Ed.), *Rural USA: Persistence and change* (pp. 182-188). Ames: Iowa State University Press.
- Chou, S., Grossman, M, Saffer, H (2002). AN ECONOMIC ANALYSIS OF ADULT OBESITY: RESULTS FROM THE BEHAVIORAL RISK FACTOR SURVEILLANCE SYSTEM. Cambridge, MA, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Coats, J. F., Jarratt, J., & Ragunas, L. (1992). Reviving rural life The Futurist, March-April.
- Communication, A. A. (2010). Your driving costs: How much are you really paying to drive? Heathrow, FL, AAA Association. **2717**.
- Connor Gorber, S., M. Shields, et al. (2008). "The feasibility of establishing correction factors to adjust self-reported estimates of obesity." <u>Health reports / Statistics Canada, Canadian</u> <u>Centre for Health Information = Rapports sur la santé / Statistique Canada, Centre</u> <u>canadien d'information sur la santé</u> **19**(3): 71-82.
- Cotleur, C. A., Gaumer, C., & Foltos, B. (2009). The effects of outshopping on a small rural community: The importance of relationships. *The Coastal Business Journal*, 8(1).
- Crider, D., Willits, F., & Kanagy, C. (1991). Rurality and well-being during the middle years of life. Social Indicators Research, 24(3), 253-268.
- Cutler, S. (1972). "The Availability of Personal Transportation, Residential Location, and Life Satisfaction Among the Aged." <u>Journal of Gerontology</u> **27**(3): 383-389.
- Cutler, S. (1975). "Transportation and Changes in Life Satisfaction." <u>The Gerontologist</u>.
- Dannenberg AL, C. T., Gibson CJ. (2005). Assessing the walkability of the workplace: a new audit tool. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 20, 39-44.
- Dillman, D. A., J. Smythe, et al. (2009). <u>Internet, Mail, and Mixed-Mode Surveys: The</u> <u>Tailored Design Method</u>. Hoboken, NJ, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Dillman, D., and Tremblay, K. (1977). "The Quality of Life in Rural America." <u>Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science</u> **429**(The New Rural America (Jan., 1977)): 115-129.
- Dissart, J., & Deller, S. (2000). Quality of life in the planning literature. *Journal of Planning Literature*, *15*(1), 135.
- Doty, B., Henghan, S., Gold, M., Bordley, J., Dietz, P., Finlayson, S., et al. (2006). Is a broadly based surgical residency program more likely to place graduates in rural practice? *World J Surg*, *30*, 2089-2093.
- Eissa, M. a. G., K. (2004). "Evaluation and Management of Obesity in Children and Adolescents." Journal of Pediatric Health Care **18**(1).
- El-Osta, H. S., Mishra, A.K., Morehart, M.J. (2007). Determinants of economic well-being among U.S. farm operator households. *Agricultural Economics* 36(2007) 291–304.
- Emmerson, P., T. Ryley, et al. (1998). "The impact of weather on cycle flows." <u>Traffic</u> <u>engineering & control</u> **39**(4): 238-243.
- Faeh, D., J. Braun, et al. (2009). "Underestimation of obesity prevalence in Switzerland: comparison of two methods for correction of self-report." <u>Swiss medical weekly : official</u> journal of the Swiss Society of Infectious Diseases, the Swiss Society of Internal <u>Medicine, the Swiss Society of Pneumology</u> **139**(51-52): 51-52.

- Felce, D., and Perry, J. (1995). "Quality of Life: Its Definition and Measurement." <u>Research</u> <u>in Developmental Disabilities</u> **16**(1): 51-74.
- Ferreira, L. (1999). UNMET COMMUNITY TRANSPORT NEEDS WORKING PAPER 3 TOWARDS A RAPID APPRAISAL METHODOLOGY, Australian Housing & Urban Research Institute/Civil Engineering QUT.
- Ferreira, L. (2003). Transit integration: Why bother? <u>3rd International Conference on Smart</u> <u>Urban Transport</u>. Sydney, Australia.
- Filkins, R., Allen, J. C., & Cordes, S. (2000). Predicting community satisfaction among rural residents. *Rural Sociology*, 65(1), 72-86.
- Fletcher, C., S. Garasky, et al. (2005). "Transportation Hardship: Are You Better off with a Car?" Journal of Family and Economic Issues **26**(3): 323-343.
- Flood, V., Webb, K., Lazarus, R., and Pang, G. (2000). "Use of self-report to monitor overweight and obesity in populations: some issues for consideration." <u>Australian and New Zealand</u> <u>Journal of Public Health</u> 24(1): 96-99.
- Frank, L. e. a. (2004). "Obesity Relationships with Community Design, Physical Activity, and Time Spent in Cars." <u>American Journal of Preventative Medicine</u>.
- Frenzen, P. D., & Parker, T. S. (2000). Rural consumer markets. Rural America, 15(1).
- Gabriel, Z., and Bowling, A. (2004). "Quality of life from the perspectives of older people." <u>Ageing & Society</u> **24**: 675-691.
- Goldsberry, K., Duvall, C. (2009). "Visualizing Nutritional Terrain: An Atlas of Produce Accessibility in Lansing, Michican, USA." <u>American Journal of Preventative Medicine</u> **36**(4S).
- Goodwin, L. (2002). Weather Impacts on Arterial Traffic Flow, US DOT.
- Gorber, S., Tremblay, M, Moher, D, and Gorber B. (2007). "A comparison of direct vs. self-report measures for assessing height, weight and ody mass index: a systematic review." <u>Obesity Reviews</u> 8: 307-326.
- Gorber, S. C., M. Tremblay, et al. (2007). "A comparison of direct vs. self-report measures for assessing height, weight and body mass index: a systematic review." <u>Obesity Reviews</u> 8(4): 307-326.
- Goudy, W. J. (1977). Evaluation of local attributes and community satisfaction in small towns. *Rural Sociology*, *42*, 371-382.
- Gray, C. (2002). Local government and the arts. Local Government Studies, 28(1), 77-90.
- Green, G. P. (2001). Amenities and community economic development: Strategies for sustainability. *The Journal of Regional Analysis and Policy*.
- Guy, C. M. and G. David (2004). "Measuring physical access to 'healthy foods' in areas of social deprivation: a case study in Cardiff." <u>International Journal of Consumer Studies</u> 28(3): 222-234.
- Hanson, S. a. H., P. (1981). "THE IMPACT OF MARRIED WOMEN'S EMPLOYMENT ON HOUSEHOLD TRAVEL PATTERNS: A SWEDISH EXAMPLE." <u>Transportation</u> 10: 165-183.
- Harduar-Morano, L., et al. (2008). "PACE EH Post Project Assessment of Quality of Life Changes in a Florida Community Related to Infrastructure Improvements." <u>Journal</u> <u>of Environmental Health</u> 70(10): 40-46.
- Hart, G., Larson, E., & Lishner, D. (2005). "Rural Definitions for Health Policy and Research " <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> 95(7): 1149-1155.
- Hart, L., Salsberg, E., Phillips, D., and Lishner, D. (2002). "Rural Health Care Providers in the United States." <u>The Journal of Rural Health</u> 18(5): 211-232.
- Hart, L. G., E. H. Larson, et al. (2005). "Rural Definitions for Health Policy and Research " <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> 95(7): 1149-1155.

- Hayes, A. J., M. A. Kortt, et al. (2008). "Estimating equations to correct self-reported height and weight: implications for prevalence of overweight and obesity in Australia." <u>Australian</u> <u>and New Zealand Journal of Public Health</u> 32(6): 542-545.
- Hough, J. (2007). Realized Travel Demand and Relative Desired Mobility of Elderly Women in Rural and Small Urban North Dakota, Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute.
- Hough, J. A., X. Cao, et al. (2008). "Exploring travel behavior of elderly women in rural and small urban North Dakota: An ecological modeling approach." <u>Transportation Research</u> <u>Record</u> 2082: 125-131.
- House, J., K. Landis, et al. (1988). "Social relationships and health." <u>Science</u> **241**(4865): 540-545.
- Howat, A., Veitch, C., & Cairns, W. (2006). A descriptive study comparing health attitudes of urban and rural oncology patients. *Rural and Remote Health*, 6 (online), 563.
- Hubsmith, D. (2007). "Rural Communities: Rural Safe Routes to School." <u>Diverse Community</u> <u>Roundtable Meeting Notes</u> Retrieved 8/3/2010, 2010, from <u>http://www.saferoutespartnership.org/local/4317/4345</u>.
- Humpel, N., Owen, N., and Leslie, E. (2002). Environmental factors associated with adults' participation in physical activity: A review American Journal of Preventative Medicine, 22(3), 189-199.
- Jacob, S., & Luloff, A. E. (1995). Exploring the meaning of rural through cognitive maps. *Rural Sociology*, *60*(2), 260-273.
- Kantor, S. (2008). The Economic Impact of the California High-Speed Rail in the Sacramento/Central Valley Area, County Bank Professor of Economics, University of California, Merced.
- Kasper, B. a. S., J. (2002). <u>Leisure Mobility and Mobility Problems of Elderly People in Urban,</u> <u>Suburban and Rural Environment: Preliminary results from the research project FRAME</u>. Paper presented at the 42nd congress of the European Regional Science Association (ERSA), German Federal Ministry of Education and Research.
- Kaufman, P. (1998). Rural poor have less access to supermarkets, large grocery stores. *Rural Development Perspectives*, 13(4), 19-26.
- Kawachi, I. and L. F. Berkman (2001). "Social ties and mental health." <u>Journal of Urban</u> <u>Health</u> **78**(3): 458-467.
- Kenyon, S., Lyons, G., and Rafferty, J. (2002). "Transport and social exclusion: investigating the possibility of promoting inclusion through virtual mobility." <u>Journal of Transport</u> <u>Geography</u> 10: 207-219.
- Lang, T., & Caraher, M. (1998). Access to healthy foods: Part II. Food poverty and shopping deserts: What are the implications for health promotion policies and practice? *Healthy Education Journal*, 57, 202-211.
- Larsen, S., & Depew, B. (2010). Saving the small town grocery store. Retrieved October, 2010, from http://www.cfra.org/renewrural/grocery.
- Lazere, E. (1989). The other housing crisis: Sheltering the poor in rural america. *Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, Washington, DC.; Housing Assistance Council.*
- Lee, B. A. and A. M. Guest (1983). "Determinants of Neighborhood Satisfaction: A Metropolitan-Level Analysis*." <u>Sociological Quarterly</u> **24**(2): 287-303.
- Lehman, A. F. (1988). "A quality of life interview for the chronically mentally ill." <u>Evaluation</u> <u>and Program Planning</u> **11**(1): 51-62.
- Leslie, E. e. a. (2007). Walkability of local communities: Using geographic information systems to objectively assess relevant environmental attributes. *Health and Places*, *13*, 111-122.
- Letvak, S. (2002). The importance of social support for rural mental health. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 23, 249-261.
- Leyden, K. M. (2003). "Social Capital and the Built Environment: The Importance of Walkable Neighborhoods." <u>American Journal of Public Health</u> **93**(9): 1546-1551.

- Liese, A., Weis, K., Pluto, D., Smith, E., Lawson, A. (2007). Food Store Types, Availability, and Cost of Foods in a Rural Environment. *Journal of the American Dietic Association*, 107, 1916-1923.
- Litman, T. (2010). Evaluating Transportation Equity Guidance For Incorporating Distributional Impacts in Transportation Planning, Victoria Transport Policy Institute.
- Litman, T. (2001). "Evaluating transportation choice." <u>Transportation Research Record: Journal</u> of the Transportation Research Board **1756**(-1): 32-41.
- Litman, T. and V. T. P. Institute (1996). "Transportation cost analysis for sustainability." Transportation: 97.
- Marottoli, R. A., C. F. Mendes de Leon, et al. (2000). "Consequences of driving cessation: Decreased out-of-home activity levels." <u>The Journals of Gerontology: Series B:</u> <u>Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences</u>.
- Mattson, J. (2010). "Aging and Mobility in Rural and Small Urban Areas: A Survey of North Dakota." Journal of Applied Gerontology.
- McCray, T. a. B., N. (2007). "Exploring the Role of Transportation in Fostering Social Exclusion: The Use of GIS to Support Qualitative Data." <u>Netw Spat Econ</u> **7**: 397-412.
- MacDonald, J. e. a. (2010). The Effect of Light Rail Transit on Body Mass Index and Physical Activity. *American Journal of Preventative Medicine*, 39(2), 105-112.
- McDermott, R., Nickelson, J., Baldwin, J., Bryant, C., Alfonso, M., Phillips, L., DeBate, R. (2009). A Community-School District-University Partnership for Assessing Physical Activity of Tweens. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 6(1).
- McGranahan, D. (1999). Natural amenities drive rural population change. *Agricultural Economic Report* (781).
- Messina, J., A. Shortridge, et al. (2006). "Evaluating Michigan's community hospital access: spatial methods for decision support." <u>International Journal of Health Geographics</u> 5(1): 42.
- Metz, D. (2000). "Mobility of older people and their quality of life." Transport Policy 7: 149-152.
- Miles, R. a. P., L. (2006). "The Influence of the Percieved Quality of Community Environments on Low-Income Women's Efforts to Walk More." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Community Health</u> **31**(5).
- Moises, L. (2010). Rural Housing Data Portal. Retrieved November, 2010, from Housing Assistance Council: http://216.92.48.246/dataportal/index.php?option=com_ha c&filterState=Vermont&filterCategory%5B%5D=Geographic+Characteristics&filterCat egory%5B%5D=Basic+Housing+Quality+Characteristics&filterCategory%5B%5D=Hou sing+Affordability+Characteristics
- Mokdad, A., Serdula, M., Dietz, W., Bowman, B., Marks, J., Koplan, J. (1999). "The Spread of the Obesity Epidemic in the United States, 1991-1998 "<u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u>.
- Monteiro, C., Conde, W., and Popkin, B. (2001). Independent Effects of Income and Education on the Risk of Obesity in the Brazilian Adult Population
- Journal of Nutrition, 131, 881S-886S.
- Morton, L. W., Bitto, E. A., Oakland, M. J., & Sand, M. (2009). Solving the problems of Iowa food deserts: Food insecurity and civic structure. *Rural Sociology*, *70*(1), 94-112.
- Morton, W., & Blanchard, T. (2007). Starved for access: Life in rural America's food deserts. *Rural Realities*, 1(4).
- Nankervis, M. (1999). "The effect of weather and climate on bicycle commuting." <u>Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice</u> **33**(6): 417-431.
- National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention & Health Promotion : Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. (2009). "Prevalence and Trends Data." from

http://apps.nccd.cdc.gov/brfss/display.asp?state=VT&cat=OB&yr=2009&qkey=4409&gr p=0&SUBMIT4=Go.

- Nilsen, S. (1979). Assessment of employment and unemployment status for non-metropolitan areas. Washington, DC: United States Department of Agriculture.
- Öberg, G., G. Nilsson, et al. (1996). "Single accidents among pedestrians and cyclists." <u>VTI</u> <u>meddelande</u> **799**.
- Owsley, C. (1997). "Clinical and research issues on older drivers: future directions." <u>Alzheimer disease and associated disorders</u>.
- Parenteau, M. e. a. (2008). Development of Neighborhoods to Measure Spatial Indicators of Health. *URISA Journal*, 20(2).
- Parmenter, T. (1988). "An analysis of the dimensions of quality of life for people with physical disabilities." <u>Quality of life for handicapped people</u>: 7-36.
- Perry, C. (1986). A proposal to recycle mechanical and organic solidarity in community sociology. Rural Sociology, 51 (3) Retrieved January 11, 2012 from http://chla.library.cornell.edu/cgi/t/text/text-idx?c=chla;idno=5075626_4336_003
- Plankey, M. W., J. Stevens, et al. (1997). "Prediction equations do not eliminate systematic error in self-reported body mass index." Obesity research **5**(4): 308-314.
- Poortinga, W. (2006). "Perceptions of the environment, physical activity, and obesity." <u>Social</u> <u>Science & Medicine</u> **63**: 2835-2846.
- Propen, D. e. a. (2010). Amenity Deserts in Northern Climates: Meeting Needs Amongst Rural Communities. . University of Vermont.
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). <u>Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community</u>, Simon and Schuster.
- Raphael, D. e. a. (2001). "Making the links between community structure and individual well-being: community quality of life in Riverdale, Toronto, Canada." <u>Health & Place</u> 7: 179-196.
- Roberts, R. (1995). "Can self-reported data accurately describe the prevalence of overweight?" <u>Public Health</u> **109**(4): 275-284.
- Rowland, M. (1990). "Self-reported weight and height." <u>American Journal of Clinical Nutrition</u> 52: 1125-1133.
- Rosenfeld, S. (2004). *Crafting a New Rural Development Strategy*. Paper presented at the conference on knowledge clusters and entrepreneneurship. Retrieved from http://www.hhh.umn.edu/img/assets/11469/rosenfeld_rural_dvlp_strategy.pdf
- Rowley, T. e. a. (1996). Rural development research: a foundation for policy.
- Rushton, G. (2003). Public Health, GIS, and Spatial Analytic Tools. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 24, 43-56.
- Saelens, B. E., J. F. Sallis, et al. (2003). "Environmental correlates of walking and cycling: findings from the transportation, urban design, and planning literatures." <u>Annals of Behavioral Medicine</u> 25(2): 80-91.
- Sage, W., Balthazar, M., Kelder, S., Millea, S., Pont, S., and Rao, M. (2010). Mapping Data Shape Community Responses To Childhood Obesity.
- Schimek, P. (1996). "Household motor vehicle ownership and use: How much does residential density matter?" <u>Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board</u> 1552(-1): 120-125.
- Scott, D. e. a. (2005). Changing Mobility of elderly urban Canadians.
- Scott, D. e. a. (2005). Changing Mobility of elderly urban Canadians.
- Seshamani, M., Van Nostrand, J., Kennedy, J., & Cochran, C. (2009). *Hard Times in the Heartland: Health Care in Rural America*: Rural Health Research Centers.
- Shafer, C., Lee, B., and Turner, S. (2000). "A tale of three greenway trails: user perceptions related to quality of life." <u>Landscape and Urban Planning</u> **49**: 163-178.
- Sirgy, M. a. C., T. (2002). "HOW NEIGHBORHOOD FEATURES AFFECT QUALITY OF LIFE." <u>Social Indicators Research</u> 59: 79-114.

- Sirgy, M. J., Gao, T., Young, R.F. (2008). How does residents' satisfaction with community services influences quality of life (QOL) outcomes? *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, *3*, 81-105.
- Stern, J. (1994). *The Condition of Education in Rural Schools*. Washington, D.C.: Office of Educational Research and Improvement.
- Stommel, M. and C. A. Schoenborn. (2009). "Accuracy and usefulness of BMI measures based on self-reported weight and height: findings from the NHANES & NHIS 2001-2006."

Su, F. (2007). Understanding and Satisfying Older People's Travel Demand.

- Swenson, K. (2008). *Childcare Arrangements in Urban and Rural Areas*. Retrieved from http://aspe.hhs.gov/hsp/08/cc-urban-rural/report.pdf.
- Theodori, G.L. (2001). Examining the effects of community satisfaction and attachment omn individual well-being. *Rural Sociology*, *66*(4), 618-619.
- Torjman, S. (2004). *Culture and Recreation: Links to Well-Being*: The Caledon Institute of Social Policy.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2002). Census 2000 Urban and Rural Classification. Retrieved January 11, 2012 from http://www.census.gov/geo/www/ua/ua_2k.html.
- United States Census Bureau. 2009. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/geo/www/tiger/tgrshp2009/TGRSHP09.pdf
- van Roosmalen, L., Paquin, G. and Steinfeld, A. (2010). "Quality of Life Technology: The State of Personal Transportation."
- Villanueva, E. (2001). "The validity of self-reported weight in US adults: a population based cross-sectional study." <u>BMC Public Health</u> 1(11).
- Wada, K., K. Tamakoshi, et al. (2005). "Validity of self-reported height and weight in a Japanese workplace population." <u>International Journal of Obesity</u> 29(9): 1093-1099.

Whitehead, M. (1998) Food deserts: What's in a name?. Health Education Journal, 57, 189-190.

- Williams, A. S., Youmans, R. C., & Sorenson, D. M. (1975). Providing Rural Public Services.
- Wilson, S., & Peterson, G. (1988). Life satisfaction among young adults from rural families. *Family Relations*, *37*(1), 84-91.
- Wooldridge, J. (2003). <u>Introductory Econometrics: A Modern Approach</u>, Thomson Southwestern.
- Wozniak, P.J., Draughn, P.S., & Knaub, P.K. (1993). Domains of subjective well-being in farm men and women. *Journal of Family anf Economic Issues*, 14(2), 97-114.
- Zhang, J., Middlestadt, S., and Ji, C. (2007). Psychosocial factors underlying physical activity. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition*, 4(38).

Appendix

Variable	Coefficient	Marginal Effects	b/St.Er.	P(Z >z
Constant	0.615	0.091	0.777	0.437
Grocery Store	-0.072	-0.011	-1.837	0.066 *
Restaurant	-0.004	-0.001	-0.104	0.917
Clothing Store	-0.004	-0.001	-0.086	0.931
Affordable Housing	0.052	0.008	1.082	0.279
Adequate Housing	0.000	0.000	-0.006	0.995
Healthcare Provider	-0.015	-0.002	-0.441	0.659
Family	-0.003	0.000	-0.104	0.917
Friends	-0.080	-0.012	-1.587	0.113
Neighbors	0.008	0.001	0.182	0.856
Education & Training	0.025	0.004	0.699	0.485
Employment	-0.071	-0.010	-1.557	0.120
Recreation	-0.010	-0.001	-0.226	0.821
Feeling of Safety	-0.127	-0.019	-2.550	0.011 *
Arts & Entertainment	-0.002	0.000	-0.041	0.967
Place of Worship	0.034	0.005	0.867	0.386
Childcare	0.065	0.010	1.598	0.110
Natural Surroundings	0.088	0.013	1.476	0.140
Place you can walk to	0.006	0.001	0.186	0.853

TABLE A-1. Binary Logistic Model to predict Probability of Unmet Travel Demand

Gender	0.291	0.043	1.699	0.089	*
Age	-0.008	-0.001	-0.947	0.344	
Income \$50,000+	0.148	0.022	0.724	0.469	
BA or more education	0.041	0.006	0.211	0.833	
Rural	-0.206	-0.031	-0.950	0.342	
At least 1 motor vehicle	-1.262	-0.253	-2.404	0.016	*
At least 1 bicycle	0.012	0.002	0.053	0.958	
Access to public transportation	0.096	0.014	0.483	0.629	
Valid driver's license	-0.259	-0.041	-0.631	0.528	
Employed	0.178	0.026	0.804	0.422	
Multiple adult with children	0.157	0.024	0.684	0.494	
Single adult, no children	0.205	0.032	0.780	0.436	
Single adult, with children	0.331	0.054	0.752	0.452	
Weather typical	0.376	0.059	1.838	0.066	*
Weather affected my travel	0.653	0.114	2.100	0.036	*
Afraid to drive in bad weather in the spring	0.193	0.030	0.674	0.500	
Travel less when gas prices high	0.164	0.024	0.901	0.368	
Able to get places you need to go	-0.467	-0.078	-1.469	0.142	

Feel safe walking after dark	0.110	0.016	0.491	0.624
Enjoy daily travel	-0.286	-0.044	-1.471	0.141
Believe should walk/bike more	0.318	0.044	1.473	0.141
Think about climate change when travel	0.116	0.017	0.646	0.519
Feel safe making a trip after dark	-0.063	-0.009	-0.232	0.816
Know people with trouble getting needed places	0.428	0.064	2.398	0.017 *

Note. Model correctly predicted 98.47% of actual 0s (respondents without unmet demand).

n=984

Variable	Coefficient	Standard Error	b/St.Er.	P(Z >z)	
Constant	1.145	0.573	1.997	0.046	*
Grocery Store	0.085	0.024	3.486	0.001	***
Restaurant	-0.049	0.027	-1.849	0.064	*
Clothing Store	0.014	0.025	0.558	0.577	
Affordable Housing	0.000	0.030	0.004	0.997	
Adequate Housing	0.005	0.032	0.167	0.867	
Healthcare Provider	0.003	0.022	0.156	0.876	
Family	0.011	0.018	0.622	0.534	
Friends	0.027	0.032	0.849	0.396	
Neighbors	-0.019	0.026	-0.752	0.452	
Education & Training	0.005	0.022	0.233	0.816	
Employment	-0.027	0.028	-0.964	0.335	
Recreation	-0.042	0.027	-1.558	0.119	
Feeling of Safety	0.018	0.034	0.524	0.600	
Arts & Entertainment	-0.035	0.026	-1.352	0.177	
Place of Worship	-0.018	0.024	-0.735	0.462	
Childcare	0.014	0.024	0.567	0.571	
Natural Surroundings	0.059	0.038	1.540	0.124	
Place you can walk to	0.039	0.019	2.068	0.039	*
Gender	-0.077	0.105	-0.732	0.464	
Age	0.007	0.005	1.418	0.156	

TABLE A-2. Truncated Probit Model to predict # of Trips Made

Income \$50,000+	-0.148	0.124	-1.199	0.230	
BA or more education	0.268	0.118	2.266	0.023	*
Rural	-0.148	0.130	-1.139	0.255	
At least 1 motor vehicle	0.619	0.416	1.487	0.137	
At least 1 bicycle	0.038	0.134	0.284	0.776	
Access to public transportation	-0.175	0.119	-1.474	0.140	
Valid driver's license	-0.427	0.296	-1.440	0.150	
Employed	0.096	0.133	0.722	0.470	
Multiple adult with children	0.514	0.140	3.684	0.000	***
Single adult, no children	0.010	0.164	0.059	0.953	
Single adult, with children	0.131	0.282	0.464	0.643	
Weather typical	-0.092	0.134	-0.682	0.495	
Weather affected my travel	-0.119	0.236	-0.505	0.614	
Afraid to drive in bad weather in the spring	0.034	0.189	0.180	0.857	
Travel less when gas prices high	0.242	0.111	2.176	0.030	*
Able to get places you need to go	-0.288	0.219	-1.316	0.188	
Feel safe walking after dark	-0.085	0.139	-0.613	0.540	
Enjoy daily travel	0.051	0.123	0.410	0.682	
Believe should walk/bike more	0.142	0.128	1.113	0.266	
Think about climate	0.028	0.109	0.259	0.796	

change when travel

Feel safe making a trip after dark	0.357	0.175	2.042	0.041	*
Know people with trouble getting needed places	-0.109	0.110	-0.990	0.322	
Sigma	1.421	0.042	34.134	0.000	

n=891 (observations after truncation)

	0				
Variable	Coefficient	Standard Error	b/St.Er.	P(Z >z)	
Constant	2.439	3.369	0.724	0.469	
Grocery Store	0.042	0.165	0.256	0.798	
Restaurant	0.000	0.098	0.003	0.997	
Clothing Store	0.001	0.033	0.032	0.974	
Affordable Housing	-0.050	0.025	-1.989	0.047	*
Adequate Housing	0.061	0.028	2.163	0.031	*
Healthcare Provider	-0.015	0.019	-0.795	0.427	
Family	-0.024	0.026	-0.926	0.354	
Friends	0.012	0.057	0.207	0.836	
Neighbors	0.109	0.044	2.495	0.013	*
Education & Training	-0.023	0.021	-1.125	0.261	
Employment	0.089	0.056	1.589	0.112	
Recreation	0.007	0.084	0.083	0.934	
Feeling of Safety	0.152	0.043	3.509	0.001	***
Arts & Entertainment	0.020	0.070	0.282	0.778	
Place of Worship	0.040	0.039	1.018	0.309	
Childcare	-0.022	0.033	-0.663	0.507	
Natural Surroundings	0.153	0.116	1.317	0.188	
Place you can walk to	0.035	0.076	0.465	0.642	
Gender	-0.092	0.171	-0.534	0.593	
Age	0.014	0.014	0.960	0.337	

TABLE A-3. Linear Model: QOL Regression

Income \$50,000+	0.000	0.301	-0.001	0.999
BA or more education	0.210	0.516	0.407	0.684
Rural	0.304	0.310	0.978	0.328
At least 1 motor vehicle	-0.450	1.169	-0.385	0.700
At least 1 bicycle	-0.080	0.135	-0.592	0.554
Access to public transportation	0.016	0.353	0.046	0.964
Valid driver's license	-0.105	0.846	-0.124	0.902
Employed	0.007	0.213	0.032	0.975
Multiple adult with children	-0.070	1.003	-0.070	0.944
Single adult, no children	-0.208	0.134	-1.553	0.120
Single adult, with children	0.010	0.341	0.029	0.977
Weather typical	-0.011	0.205	-0.055	0.956
Weather affected my travel	-0.034	0.291	-0.117	0.907
Afraid to drive in bad weather in the spring	0.030	0.168	0.177	0.859
Travel less when gas prices high	-0.063	0.474	-0.133	0.894
Able to get places you need to go	-0.032	0.591	-0.055	0.957
Feel safe walking after dark	0.093	0.202	0.459	0.646
Enjoy daily travel	0.275	0.144	1.905	0.057
Believe should	-0.286	0.288	-0.991	0.322

*

walk/bike more

Think about climate change when travel	-0.117	0.109	-1.068	0.285	
Feel safe making a trip after dark	-0.153	0.688	-0.222	0.824	
Know people with trouble getting needed places	-0.266	0.232	-1.149	0.251	
Maine resident	0.005	0.109	0.048	0.962	
New Hampshire resident	-0.090	0.117	-0.776	0.438	
Typical day	0.214	0.099	2.168	0.030	*
Years living in Northern New England	0.002	0.001	1.981	0.048	*
Predicted # of trips	0.308	2.204	0.140	0.889	
Predicted unserved travel demand	-0.954	0.316	-3.019	0.003	**

Note. Adjusted R Square=.3679

n=984

Variable	Coefficient	Standard Error	b/St. Er.	P[Z >z	
Constant	7.455	0.389	19.152	0.000	***
Gender	-0.082	0.094	-0.870	0.384	
Age	0.009	0.004	2.081	0.037	*
High Income	-0.026	0.107	-0.248	0.804	
BA or more	0.128	0.098	1.303	0.193	
Rural	0.158	0.106	1.487	0.137	
1 or more motor vehicles in household	-0.117	0.188	-0.622	0.534	
1 or more bicycles in household	0.066	0.085	0.771	0.441	
Access to public transportation	0.033	0.055	0.604	0.546	
Possess valid driver's license	-0.026	0.245	-0.105	0.916	
Employed	0.069	0.112	0.610	0.542	
Multiple adults, kids	0.107	0.124	0.863	0.388	
Single adult, no kids	0.007	0.139	0.052	0.959	
Single adult, kids	-0.158	0.269	-0.587	0.557	
Transportation Issue	-0.036	0.205	-0.175	0.861	

Table A-5. Random Effects QOL Model, estimated using regression techniques

Access Issue	-0.642	0.245	-2.615	0.009	**
Weather issue	-0.529	0.248	-2.131	0.033	*
Affordability issue	-1.993	0.489	-4.078	0.000	***
Health issue	-0.474	0.261	-1.818	0.069	*
Social issue	0.190	0.490	0.388	0.698	
Other issue	0.729	1.083	0.674	0.501	
Time issue	-0.115	0.210	-0.548	0.584	
Spring	-0.040	0.054	-0.737	0.461	
Fall	0.021	0.054	0.380	0.704	
Winter	0.118	0.055	2.163	0.031	*

Note. Adjusted R-squared = 0.345E-01

Note. N= 646

	Rural	Non-Rural	Rural	Non-Rural
	N=980	N=437	N=980	N=437
Variable	Mean (Std Dev)	Mean (Std Dev)	Mean (Std Dev)	Mean (Std Dev)
Quality of Life	7.87 (1.63)	7.75 (1.76)		
	Impor	tance	Avail	ability
Grocery Store	7.78 (2.20)***	8.30 (2.00)	5.64 (3.35)***	7.75 (2.49)
Restaurant	5.59 (2.42)***	6.44 (2.38)	5.01 (3.11)***	7.12 (2.55)
Clothing Store	4.71 (2.44)***	5.24 (2.49)	2.93 (2.93)***	5.31 (3.05)
Affordable Housing	7.22 (2.84)***	7.74 (2.49)	4.59 (2.47)***	5.46 (2.39)
Adequate Housing	7.47 (2.49)*	7.88 (2.33)	5.53 (2.48)***	6.22 (2.18)
Healthcare Provider	7.92 (2.29)**	8.28 (2.12)	5.41 (3.41)***	7.26 (2.51)
Family	7.01 (2.92)	7.22 (2.79)	5.49 (3.64)**	6.01 (3.38)
Friends	7.80 (2.05)*	8.04 (2.09)	7.10 (2.57)***	7.41 (2.37)

Table A-6. Rural and non-rural comparison of QOL and ratings of amenity availability and importance

Neighbors	7.24 (2.29)	7.22 (2.46)	6.94 (2.72)	6.93 (2.84)
Education & Training	7.54 (2.37)	7.55 (2.52)	5.28 (3.10)***	6.45 (2.85)
Employment	7.83 (2.63)	7.98 (2.54)	3.89 (2.54)***	5.25 (2.56)
Recreation	7.37 (2.05)*	7.60 (1.86)	6.63 (2.68)***	6.95 (2.25)
Safety	8.89 (1.71)	8.89 (1.55)	8.15 (1.97)	7.98 (2.14)
Arts & Entertainment	6.09 (2.30)***	6.57 (2.14)	4.31 (2.85)***	5.92 (2.61)
Place of Worship	5.30 (3.38)***	5.99 (3.33)	6.73 (2.85)***	7.59 (2.42)
Childcare	5.05 (3.51)	5.20 (3.67)	5.15 (2.82)***	5.93 (2.56)
Natural Surroundings	8.53 (1.62)***	7.92 (1.93)	8.88 (1.63)***	7.85 (1.98)
Places you can walk to	6.61 (2.69)***	7.31 (2.55)	5.50 (3.33)***	6.76 (2.83)

40

	Rural			
Variable	В	t	В	t
Constant	3.334***	6.705		
	Importance		Availability	
Grocery Store	.007	.251	.045*	1.900
Restaurant	.017	.604	003	098
Clothing Store	019	670	.002	.096
Affordable Housing	090**	-2.953	027	908
Adequate Housing	.013	.371	.059**	1.975
Healthcare Provider	018	606	006	295
Family	.010	.426	017	937
Friends	045	-1.176	.033	1.077

Table A-7. QOL Regression: Perception of Availability controlling for importance

Neighbors	.069**	2.036	.044	1.467
Education & Training	.003	.103	035	-1.578
Employment	062**	-2.325	.088***	3.222
Recreation	019	581	.012	.461
Safety	.080**	2.291	.112***	3.385
Arts & Entertainment	041	-1.352	.042	1.575
Place of Worship	.002	.092	.017	.736
Childcare	001	038	006	245
Natural Surroundings	.145***	3.923	.133***	3.323
Places you can walk to Demographics	042*	-1.759	.074***	3.620
Age	.008*	1.642		
Gender (Female = 1)	238**	-2.287		

Income (\$50,000 or more = 1)	015	137
Children in household	.074	.577
Education (At least BA = 1)	040	333
Adjusted R ²	.321	

*p<.1

**p<.05

***p<.01